## News from the Field

### ACQUISITIONS, GIFTS, COLLECTIONS

THE LIBRARY of the University of California at Santa Barbara has received the original hand-written correspondence of Henry Clay and John Randolph leading up to their duel on April 8, 1826, on the Virginia side of the Potomac River. The letters are a gift from Mrs. Randolph A. Hearst.

Another gift to the library is the collection of geological publications from the late William S. W. Kew, chief geologist for Standard Oil Company of California for more than ten years, who specialized in invertebrate paleontology and exploratory petroleum geology. This collection is housed in the general library on the Santa Barbara campus, but will be moved to a science branch in the next few years.

DARTMOUTH COLLEGE LIBRARY has received a gift of subantarctic literature and ethnographic material from William E. Clark of Falmouth Foreside, Me., for the Stefansson Collection on arctic and polar regions. The material provides a record of two South American Indian tribes now extinct. It was collected by Col. Charles Wellington Furlong, explorer, lecturer, and artist, who lived and traveled with the Yaghan and Ona Indians of Patagonia and Tierra del Fuego more than fifty years ago. Included are notebooks, diaries, recordings, and early missionary writings, as well as photographs, lantern slides, and correspondence with other specialists in the region outside the Antarctic Circle.

FRANCIS BACON LIBRARY of Claremont, Calif., has acquired a valuable collection of sixteenth century Emblem books. French, German, Italian, and Dutch authors are included. Over one hundred volumes in the STC and 'Wing' periods have been acquired recently to augment the library's collections of English history and literature.

UNIVERSITY OF VERMONT LIBRARY, Burlington, recently acquired twenty-five hundred books, pamphlets, and periodicals from the American Institute of Pacific Relations. This collection of IPR and other publications of the 1930's and 1940's dealing with the his-

JANUARY 1962

tory, economics, and politics of Southeast Asia and Oceania will strengthen Vermont's Program of Non-Western Studies.

DUKE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY, Durham, N. C., has received three new collections. A collection of Wesleyana and British Methodism, acquired from Frank Baker of the Duke Divinity School, contains 17,500 items. Included are basic literature of early Methodist theology, doctrine, and administration; long runs of rare periodicals; rare tracts and ephemera; works on Methodist biography and local history; and hymnology of the eighteenth, nineteenth, and twentieth centuries.

A collection of books, pamphlets, and journals relating to the history and culture of the Isle of Man has been donated by Professor Kenneth W. Clark, Duke Divinity School, who gathered the materials on a recent trip to the island.

The private collection of the late Frederick Darlington Wardle, former town clerk of Bath, England, has been acquired. Included are many important eighteenth and nineteenth century works about the popular resort area of Bath and of Somersetshire. The collection also contains almost all of the first editions of William Morris (1834-1896), British poet, artist, and socialist; ninety-two Morris letters; many first editions of the works of Kipling and Robert Louis Stevenson; and a large number of miscellaneous titles, including a copy of the Nuremberg Bible.

DR. MARGARET KNOX, head of the reference and bibliography department, University of Florida Libraries, Gainesville, was in France for two months this fall, under the auspices of a Rockefeller grant, to search archival material in that country for documents pertaining to the history of Haiti, particularly the period 1790 to 1804. Permission was sought to microfilm selected documents for the University of Florida Libraries.

FRIEDSAM MEMORIAL LIBRARY, St. Bonaventure University, St. Bonaventure, N. Y., has received the 35,000th book from Dr. T. Edward Hanley, Bradford, Pa. Dr. Hanley's benefactions span two decades, and include important works in fine arts, one hundred original paintings, etchings, lithographs, and charcoals by nineteenth century and contemporary artists.

KNOX COLLEGE has received one of the most complete collections of books and other materials compiled on the Civil War from Ray D. Smith and his son, Clifford H. Smith, of Chicago. Almost sixty years in the making, the collection consists of eight thousand volumes, including four thousand books on the Civil War proper. The collection is general, not specialized, and is oriented toward the military rather than the political aspects of the war. Among the historical materials are 900,000 index cards, a key to a complete set of forty years of the Confederate Veteran, a journal published in Tennessee from 1892 to 1932. The collection will eventually be housed in its own quarters at the library in Galesburg, Ill.

THE LIBRARY of Michigan State University, East Lansing, has recently added 6,700 books and three thousand pamphlets and reprints to its French holdings. The books, collected by M. Francois Bouvier, wealthy agronomist, cover every aspect of royal life in France. They include classic studies of the French monarchs, information on political, social, and literary relations, art and architecture of the royal palaces, and armorial works and books on heraldry from early sixteenth century through the eighteenth.

TULANE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY has received from Clarence E. Bonnett, professor emeritus of economics, his personal library containing more than six thousand monographs, journal files, pamphlets, and broadsides. Prominent in the collection, brought together during a period of more than fifty years, are materials on labor and industrial relations, with particular emphasis on the history of employers' associations in the United States.

THE UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA LIBRARY has received original manuscripts relating to Paul Bunyan by their author, James Stevens, Seattle, Wash. The gift includes typescripts, handwritten drafts, and original letters from Stevens to literary personalities of the 1920's. It will be added to the library's extensive Paul Bunyan collection. OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY, Columbus, has completed its largest purchase to date of Russian and Slavic literature; approximately fifteen thousand volumes were acquired from a Melbourne, Fla., book dealer. About half the newly acquired volumes were published before 1917 and much of the remainder during the fifteen years following the revolution. The acquisition includes volumes on art, bibliography, classical literature, economics, history, political science, and religion.

### BUILDINGS

AUBURN UNIVERSITY, formerly Alabama Polytechnic Institute, at Auburn, will have a new four-story library building when construction is completed in 1962. The plans include possible expansion to a fifth floor, so that the book capacity can be increased to 1,250,000 volumes.

THE UNIVERSITY OF CONNECTICUT at Storrs recently received an appropriation of \$1,-675,000 from the state legislature to build a 60,000-square-foot addition to the Wilbur Cross Library. Eventually it will house 750,-000 volumes and 1200 readers. Occupancy of the new structure is anticipated for 1963.

DUKE UNIVERSITY, Durham, N. C., has received a gift of \$1,000,000 from the Duke Endowment as the first installment of a fund of \$4,500,000 needed for enlargement of the general library.

CARNEGIE INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, Pittsburgh, recently dedicated a new building housing the Hunt Library and the Rachel McMasters Miller Hunt Botanical Library. Each of these libraries, which are separate administrative units, has a special significance in the world of scholarship: the Hunt Library makes it possible, for the first time in Carnegie Tech's history, for all of the school's books and periodicals to be collected under one roof, easily available to students and faculty, while the Hunt Botanical Library, occupying the penthouse, will offer specialists a chance to study one of the most important collections of rare botanical books and prints in America. The building was financed from a gift of \$2,800,000 given by Mr. and Mrs. Roy A. Hunt.

MARYGROVE COLLEGE, Detroit, Mich., has

60

received \$25,000 from the Kresge Foundation for a rare book room in the library addition now under construction. The room, to be dedicated to the memory of Daniel C. Fisher, former president of the S. S. Kresge Company, will contain many of the most valuable works from the college collection and will house a permanent display of the bookmaker's art through the centuries. The Marygrove library addition, to be completed in May 1962, will house 200,000 volumes. It will include an instructional materials room, a 400-seat lecture hall, a room to house papal documents, and an enlarged area for processing books and using microfilms.

A NEW LIBRARY BUILDING at Pacific College, Fresno, Calif., will be ready for occupancy early in 1962. It will cover 10,000 square feet, house 40,000 volumes, and seat 125 students. Special facilities will be provided for microreproduction materials. The money for this \$200,000 building was contributed by two donors.

GROUND WAS BROKEN in October for the new \$1,000,000 library being constructed for Trinity College, Washington, D. C. Most of the money contributed for the building has been received from alumnae.

#### GRANTS

THE COUNCIL ON LIBRARY RESOURCES, INC., has announced three new grants for investigations in various areas of librarianship:

A two-year contract of \$125,100 has been awarded to William J. Barrow of Richmond, Va., to establish and maintain a laboratory for research on problems of preserving books and other library materials. The new laboratory will be housed at the Virginia Historical Society, and will be concerned exclusively with council projects. Among topics that may be investigated are: performance standards for library bookbinding; techniques for adhesive bookbinding for library use; use of a spray to deacidify books to retard deterioration; relationship of storage conditions to natural aging of books; permanence/durability properties of coated papers; and performance/durability of microfilm and adequacy of existing criteria.

A grant of \$27,070 for construction of a model of a relatively inexpensive microfilm finder-reader system for library use has been made to the ALA Library Technology Pro-

#### JANUARY 1962

ject. The work, under the supervision of Peter Scott, head of the Microreproduction Laboratory, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Libraries, will be carried out jointly by the Microreproduction Laboratory and Edgerton, Germeshausen & Grier, Inc., Boston. The purpose of the project is to make it possible for the reader to locate quickly any desired item on a roll of microfilm. The mechanism will be equipped with a stroboscopic finding device so that the reader can observe an index continuously while the film is in rapid motion.

The recently organized Books for the People Fund, Inc., has received a grant of \$5,000 for preliminary work on providing low-cost reading materials for Latin American children, young people, and new literates in their own languages. The fund will select books for translation into Spanish and Portuguese, as well as those written by Latin American authors, utilizing mass production and mass distribution techniques. At the same time it will encourage the development of school libraries. The grant will defray expenses of assembling information, including operating costs to establish a firm program. Preliminary investigation will be directed by Harold W. Bentley, Dean of Extension, University of Utah.

#### MISCELLANEOUS

THE LATEST WRINKLE in intercampus library cooperation has been developed by librarians at the University of California, Santa Barbara, to expedite borrowing books from the Los Angeles campus. A student at the UCLA School of Library Service has been employed by the library at Santa Barbara to assist in filling its interlibrary loan requests. Working at UCLA, he verifies references, checks on the availability of items, and arranges for photocopying articles in noncirculating periodicals.

MICROCARD EDITIONS, INC., will give a Mark VII Microcard Reader to any library purchasing \$10,000 worth of microcard publications within a given calendar year. Two libraries (University of South Carolina, Columbia, and Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo) have already received readers under this plan, which is retroactive to January 1, 1960. The list price of the reader is \$450. Details of the plan may be obtained from Microcard Editions, Inc., 901 26th Street, N.W., Washington 7, D. C.

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC., and Interscience Publishers, Inc., have merged to establish one of the largest publishing houses devoted to the production of books and journals in natural and behavioral sciences, technology, and engineering. The firm operates under the name of John Wiley & Sons, Inc., with offices at 440 Park Ave. South, New York 16.

RALPH McCoy, director of libraries at Southern Illinois University, Carbondale, has been named the first recipient of an annual leadership award recently initiated by the Illinois Library Association. McCoy has received a hand-lettered scroll and a check for \$100.

A TWO-MONTH TRAVEL PROGRAM in comparative library education is again to be sponsored by the State University of New York in cooperation with the Experiment in International Living. The itinerary includes visits to libraries and historic places in Italy, Switzerland, Germany, France, and England, with a three-week stay in Switzerland, probably in the Zurich area. The program is limited to fifteen participants, who will depart by ship for a Mediterranean port in late June or early July and return from London by plane in early September. Additional information and a descriptive brochure may be obtained by writing the group leader: Dr. Leslie Poste, Division of Library Education, State University College, Geneseo, N. Y.

THE MEDICAL LIBRARY ASSOCIATION has opened a headquarters office at 919 North Michigan Ave., Chicago, and appointed Helen Brown Schmidt as executive secretary. Mrs. Schmidt was assistant director of the Midwest Inter-Library Center.

A SURVEY is being conducted by the ALA Public Relations Office to establish a complete list of radio and television programs and newspaper and magazine columns devoted to library-oriented material. Relevant information should be sent to the ALA Public Relations Office, 50 E. Huron Street, Chicago 11, 111.

THE UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA LIBRARIES, Gainesville, is offering a number of graduate assistantships in the academic year 1962-63 for study leading to a master's or doctoral degree in a subject field other than library science. Stipends of \$1,700 for a nine-month period require 15 hours library duty each week; stipends of \$2,300 for a nine-month period require 20 hours library duty each week. Holders of assistantships are exempt from out-of-state tuition fees. The deadline for filing formal application is March 15, 1962. Application should be made to: Director of Libraries, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

ST. LOUIS UNIVERSITY and Brandeis University, Waltham, Mass., have initiated a cooperative project for filming the Hebrew manuscripts of the Vatican Library.

Permission for the project was obtained by St. Louis University, and financial backing has been provided through a gift of Richard Cardinal Cushing to Brandeis University. Positive copies of the film will be made available for consultation at both universities.

CLOSE SCHOLARLY TIES between Cornell University, Ithaca, N. Y., and Iceland were emphasized in November by a display of rare books from the Fiske Icelandic Collection, as part of the celebration of the fiftieth anniversary of the founding of the University of Iceland. The 26,500-volume Icelandic Collection, surpassed in size only by the collections of Icelandic material in the National Library of Iceland and in the University and Royal Libraries of Copenhagen, Denmark, is famous not only for the books it contains but also for the series of bibliographies of Icelandic materials compiled by Professor Halldor Hermannsson, its curator for 43 years.

ALA REPRESENTATIVES at collegiate ceremonies recently were Lorena A. Garloch, university librarian, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pa., at the inauguration of Chauncey Goodrich Bly as president of Thiel College, Greenville, Pa., September 30; Felix E. Hirsch, librarian and professor of history, Trenton State College, N. J., at the inauguration of Robert Fisher Oxnam as president of Drew University, Madison, N. J., October 12; H. Dean Stallings, librarian, North Dakota Agricultural College, Fargo, at the dedication of the new Chester Fritz Library of the University of North Dakota, Grand Forks, October 13; Howard Rovelstad, director of libraries, University of Maryland, College Park, at the inaugura-

tion of Randle Elliott as president of Hood College, Frederick, Md., October 14.

E. Walfred Erickson, head librarian, Eastern Michigan University, Ypsilanti, at the inauguration of the academic chair honoring A. Vernon Jannotta, rear admiral, U.S.N.R., at the Detroit Institute of Technology, October 21; William H. Jesse, director of libraries, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, at the inauguration of Joseph J. Copeland as president of Maryville College, Maryville, Tenn., October 28; Humphrey G. Bousfield, librarian, Brooklyn College, Brooklyn, N. Y., at the inauguration of the Very Rev. Edward J. Burke as president of St. John's University, Jamaica, N. Y., No-vember 1; Richard H. Logsdon, director of libraries, Columbia University, N. Y., at the inauguration of Arthur Ole Davidson as president of Wagner College, Staten Island, N. Y., November 12.

Representing ALA and the ACRL Advisory Committee on Cooperation with Educational and Professional Organizations was Ralph Hudson, librarian, Oklahoma State Library, Oklahoma City, at the annual meeting of the Society of American Archivists, Kansas City, October 6.

### PUBLICATIONS

A NEW BIBLIOGRAPHICAL GUIDE issued by the Library of Congress lists more than 2,000 titles of periodicals concerned with Africa. The 163-page publication, entitled Serials for African Studies, was compiled by Helen F. Conover of LC's Africana Section. The entries include information on holdings in LC or other American libraries, addresses of publishers not readily available, and occasional content notes. The general index is arranged by subjects, regions, and personal names. Organizations concerned with the publication of the serials are listed separately. The bibliography is for sale by the U. S. Government Printing Office for \$1.00 a copy.

AN IMPORTANT ADDITION to the trade bibliographies of the world will appear soon. Fichero Bibliografico Hispanoamericano published by the R. R. Bowker Company will attempt to list the titles, sources, and prices of all books published in Spanish in this hemisphere. An annual "books in print" volume will be prepared in 1963. It will be indexed by author, title, and subject. California State Publications; Manual For Acquisition, Processing, Use, 2d ed., consolidates information needed for the acquisition, processing, and use of California state documents. Though the treatment is not exhaustive, the publication should be useful not only for the orientation of new staff members but also for reference by experienced librarians. The manual may be obtained without charge from the Government Publications Section, California State Library, Sacramento 9, Calif.

THE SECOND ANNUAL REPORT of the ALA Library Technology Project describes in attractive format the project's research and testing activities from May 1, 1960, through June 30, 1961.

ALL FORTY VOLUMES OF Educational Screen (now Educational Screen & Audiovisual Guide) are available on microfilm from University Microfilms, Inc., Ann Arbor, Mich. Many issues of the first twenty-seven years of the veteran audio-visual education magazine are so rare as to be museum pieces.

THE FIRST ELEVEN VOLUMES (1950-1960) of American Documentation, official organ of the American Documentation Institute, are now available on microcards from Microcard Editions, Inc., Washington, D. C., for \$25.00.

Searching the Chemical Literature (Advances in Chemistry Series no. 30; Washington: American Chemical Society, 1961; 326p., \$6.50) surveys the use of indexes and abstracts, discusses name, nomenclature and language problems, literature sources, government sources, and searching techniques.

THE AMERICAN HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION has published the *Cumulative Index of Hospital Literature*, 1955-1959 (1961, 443p.).

The Guide to Catholic Literature, 1960, edited by Joseph W. Sprug, has been issued by the Catholic Library Association (Villanova, Pa., 1961, 276p.).

The Book Industry Telephone Directory: Names & Numbers, 1961-1962 (supplement to the Literary Market Place) has been released by R. R. Bowker Co. Some twelve thousand names are included in the 256-page listing, which sells for \$10.00.

A 1961 SUPPLEMENT to A Union List of Publication in Opaque Microforms, compiled by Eva Maude Tilton, has been pub-

#### JANUARY 1962

63

lished by the Scarecrow Press (New York, 1961, 235p., \$5.00).

THE REFERENCE DIVISION of the Pacific Northwest Library Association has issued a "first supplement" to Who's Who Among Pacific Northwest Authors (1961, 59p., \$1.25). Order from E. N. Salmon, University of Oregon Library, Eugene.

FREDERICK G. KILGOUR has prepared The Library of the Medical Institution of Yale College and Its Catalogue of 1865 (New Haven, 1960, 74p., \$2.75). The publication traces the historical background of the library and reproduces the "catalogue."

The Tennyson Collection Presented to the University of Virginia in Honor of Edgar Finley Shannon, Jr. (652 p., \$5.00) has been issued by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville. John Cook Wyllie, university librarian, has written an introduction to the work, which is essentially a bibliography.

Silver Anniversary of the Joint University Libraries Serving Peabody College, Scarritt College, and Vanderbilt University is number 3 in the series, "Joint University Libraries, Miscellaneous Publications." A. F. Kuhlman reviews the work of the libraries in "A Quarter Century of Service"; Don M. Robison writes of "The Library Books of Nashville"; and there are other articles by J. Isaac Copeland, Eleanor F. Morrissey, and David Kaser. A symposium on "Teaching with the Joint University Libraries" is included.

Immigration Research Digest is issued by the Committee on Research and Studies, American Immigration and Citizenship Conference, 509 Madison Avenue, New York 22. It is a summary and guide to new research on international migration. The publication appears semiannually, and the subscription rate is .35 cents per copy. It may be purchased along with the Integration Digest at a rate of \$1.25 annually.

"The Faculty and the Development of Library Collections," by Maurice F. Tauber, appears in the *Journal of Higher Education*, November, 1961, pp. 454-58.

Planning the Functional College Library, by John E. Burke (Commerce, Texas, 1961, 60p.) describes the steps taken in the planning of the new library building at East Texas State College. The publication contains illustrations and diagrams.

A Directory of St Louis Book and Printing Trades to 1950, by David Kaser has been issued by the New York Public Library (1961, 35p., \$1.25).

Martha Boaz is the author of Fervent and Full of Gifts, The Life of Althea Warren (1961, 163p., \$4.50), and the compiler of The Quest for Truth, a series of lectures by various authors given at the School of Library Science of the University of Southern California (1961, 148p., \$3.50). Both volumes are issued by the Scarecrow Press, New York.

### Eastern College Librarians Conference

The 47th annual conference of eastern college librarians was held at Columbia University on November 25th. David R. Watkins of Yale University Library's reference department was conference chairman.

Two papers were presented at the morning session; the first was "A Report on Developments in Washington Affecting College and University Libraries," by Germaine Krettek, director of ALA's Washington office. The second paper was "The Use of New York Libraries by Students," by Warren J. Haas, associate director of Columbia University Libraries.

The afternoon session was devoted to a single topic—"The Obligation of the Library to People Outside Its Constituency," discussed from the public library point of view by James E. Bryan, director of the Newark, N. J., Public Library; from the college library point of view by Donald Engley, Trinity College librarian, Hartford, Conn., and from the university library viewpoint by Francis A. Johns, Rutgers University bibliographer.

## Personnel

JOE W. KRAUS became director of libraries of Kansas State University, Manhattan, on December 1st after ten years of distinguished



Joe W. Kraus

brary science field over the years.

A native of Missouri, Mr. Kraus was graduated from Culver-Stockton College, Canton, Mo., and proceeded immediately to the University of Illinois, where he received his B.S. in L.S. degree in 1939 and his Master of Arts in 1941, at the same time working in both reference and circulation divisions of the University of Illinois Library. From 1942 to 1946 he served in the United States Army, returning to Illinois as instructor in library science during the spring and summer of 1946. From there Mr. Kraus returned to his native state to be librarian of Westminster College in Fulton, Mo., from 1946 to 1948.

In 1948 he went to the Howard-Tilton Memorial Library at Tulane University, where he was assistant librarian until 1951. From 1951 until the present he has served at Madison College with a distinction acknowledged throughout the southeastern states.

In 1960 Mr. Kraus received his Ph.D. at the University of Illinois, offering his study: "Book Collections of Five Colonial College Libraries; A Subject Analysis" as his dissertation. Mr. Kraus is an active member of the Virginia, Southeastern, and the American library associations, serving in the Virginia Library Association as vice-president

JANUARY 1962

service as librarian of Madison College, Harrisonburg, Virginia. Mr. Kraus' abilities are also evident in his capable direction of the major library school in Virginia for the training of school librarians, as well as by his scholarly and workmanlike research both in and out of the professional liand president-elect during the year 1960-61.

His published research has ranged from American literature to the field in which he is known as a result of his doctoral studies.

A love of books is evident by Mr. Kraus's pattern of publication, and is also all too obvious to anyone who has accidentally passed a bookstore with him. These little adventures are perhaps the only things other than good food that will remove the omnipresent pipe from the mouth of one of the best-tempered, witty, and delightful men in the library world.—N. Harvey Deal.

ANNE CARY EDMONDS, who has just been appointed to succeed Mrs. Frances Kemp Hurley as librarian of Douglass College, Rut-

gers, the State University, New Brunswick, New Jersey, was born in Penang, Malaya. Her higher education started in England, where she obtained a Certificate in Commerce from the University of Reading, and where she worked for two years in the War Damage Commission in London.



Anne Cary Edmonds

In 1948 she received her B.A. from Barnard College, and in 1950 her Master of Science degree from the School of Library Service, Columbia University. Miss Edmonds served as assistant in the Business Reference Room in the Library of the College of the City of New York. She was reference librarian at Goucher College from 1951 to 1960 and during that time pursued graduate work in geography at Johns Hopkins. She has been a visiting lecturer in the summer school of the library of Syracuse University. She comes to Douglass from Western Reserve, where she had been completing her studies in American history. EARL TANNENBAUM, who has been assistant humanities librarian at Southern Illinois University, Carbondale, since 1957, has re-



Earl Tannenbaum

cently been appointed librarian of Regis College, Denver, Colo.

Mr. Tannenbaum is well qualified, by both education and experience, for the new position. He holds a masters degree in English from the University of Chicago, a library degree and additional graduate work

in English literature from Indiana University. His experience includes an instructorship in English at Indiana University, and the assistant librarianship of Wisconsin State College at Whitewater (1953-56).

Among his special achievements at Southern Illinois University were his participation in the programming of the teaching machine for freshmen orientation, and the preparation of the 62-page catalog of the University's D. H. Lawrence exhibition. Mr. Tannenbaum has published in both library and literary journals and is a regular reviewer for Library Journal.—Ralph E. McCoy

PEARCE S. GROVE assumed the duties of head librarian at Colorado Woman's College, Denver, in September 1961. He had been acquisitions and serials librarian at the University of Illinois, Chicago undergraduate division. He served as assistant librarian, Education, Philosophy and Psychology Branch Library at the University of Illinois, Urbana, before going to Chicago. Mr. Grove began his library career as student assistant at the University of Florida College of Education. He obtained his M.S. in L.S. from the University of Illinois in 1958. Mr. Grove is married, and has four children.

MARGARET THOMAS, formerly head catalog librarian, Joint University Library, Nashville, Tenn., has been appointed head librarian, Randolph-Macon Woman's College, Ashland, Va. A graduate of Birmingham Southern College and Emory University, Miss Thomas has served as librarian of Howard College, librarian at the Army Air Base, Birmingham, and command librarian at Warner Robbins Air Technical Service, Robbins Field, Ga.

MRS. MARY FALVEY, formerly publications assistant of the *ALA Bulletin*, joined the ACRL headquarters staff as *CRL* publications officer on November 13, 1961. Mrs. Falvey is a graduate of Beloit College. Her past experience in the editorial field well qualifies her for her new challenges. She served as news and feature writer and jackof-all-trades on her family's weekly newspaper in Rock County, Wis., early in her career. Later, she was an editor of elementary school text books at Follett Publishing Company, and was continuous revision editor for American Peoples Encyclopedia before joining the ALA staff.

### Appointments

JAN ADAMCZIK is librarian I in the service division of the loan department, University of California, Berkeley.

MRS. CHARLOTTE M. ALLEY is a staff member of the acquisition division, University of Washington Library, Seattle.

JANICE ANDERSON is a cataloger, Ohio State University Libraries.

MILDRED BADGER is assistant African bibli-

ographer, University of California Library, Los Angeles.

SALLY A. BALL is assistant engineering librarian, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

CORRECTION PLEASE: JULIUS BARCLAY is not chief librarian of the division of special collections, University of California, Berkeley, as we reported in the November 1961

CRL; Director R. C. Swank of Stanford informs us that "Julius is our boy, and we intend to keep him."

CHRISTOPHER BARNES is circulation librarian in the Cornell University Engineering Library, Ithaca, N. Y.

MRS. RUTH BERTRAND, formerly a staff member of the Richmond (Calif.) Public Library, is now librarian I in the general reference service, University of California, Berkeley.

DONALD V. BLACK is the director of a detailed mechanization feasibility study of library operations which began on November 1 at the University of California at Los Angeles.

MRS. FAY BLAKE is librarian I, gifts and exchange section, University of California Library, Los Angeles.

HERBERT BLOOM, formerly assistant librarian, Lowell (Mass.) State Teachers College, is now head, circulation department, Chenery Library, Boston University Libraries.

KATHERINE BOERSMA is documents librarian, University of Pittsburgh.

LAURA BONDI, formerly a staff member of the Boston Public Library, is now assistant librarian for industrial relations, Dewey Library, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge.

MRS. MAJ ELLEN BOREI is on the staff of the cataloging department of the University of Pennsylvania Library, Philadelphia.

FRANK T. BRECHKA is reference librarian, Wagner College, Staten Island, N. Y.

JUDITH ANNE BRIDGES is a staff member of the technical processes department, University of Florida Libraries, Gainesville.

GEORGE CALDWELL is head of the reference department, University of Kansas Library, Lawrence.

WAYNE R. CAMPBELL has been appointed chief librarian of the Scientific Library, U. S. Patent Office, Washington, D. C.

MRS. LILLIE CASTER, formerly cataloger, Graduate School of Yeshiva University, New York, is now cataloger, Glassboro (N. J.) State College.

THOMAS W. CHANDLER, JR., formerly head of the acquisitions department, Georgia State College, is now librarian, Oglethorpe (Ga.) University.

MRS. CHONG-CHU CHEN is cataloger in the Carol M. Newman Library, Virginia Polytechnic Institute, Blacksburg. MRS. EUNICE CHURCHILL, formerly assistant chief of the circulation department, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, is now chief of the department.

MRS. JOYCE CLARK, former librarian of Texas Wesleyan College, is reference librarian, Hardin-Simmons University, Abilene, Tex.

BARRIE CLARKE is a staff member of the San Jose (Calif.) State College Library.

SARAH ANN COOK is a staff member of the Morehead (Ky.) State College Library.

JOHN C. CRAWFORD, administrative assistant of the processing department, Library of Congress, has been appointed administrative officer for the PL-480 Programs for South Asia.

MILTON HARLEY CROUCH is a staff member of the reference and bibliography department, University of Florida Libraries, Gainesville.

DONALD CURRAN, formerly a staff member of the legislative reference service, Library of Congress, is now administrative assistant in the reference department office.

J. PERIAM DANTON, professor of librarianship, University of California, Berkeley, has been invited to serve as consultant in library service for twenty-two Veterans' Administration hospital libraries in nine western states.

MRS. JEAN DAVIS, formerly a staff member of the Carnegie Library of Pittsburgh, is now administrative assistant, University of Pittsburgh Library.

GENEVIEVE A. DELANA, formerly assistant librarian, Loyola University, Chicago, is now associate librarian.

ROBERT H. DEWITT became assistant director of libraries at Colorado State University, Fort Collins, on October 1, 1961, after thirteen years of notable library experience at the University of Missouri Library and University of Nebraska Library. He comes to C. S. U. during an exciting period of library plant expansion. His personality, education, and experience qualify him to fill the post as head of the public services division.

EDWARD J. DIFFLEY, formerly professional library assistant, Boston Public Library, is now cataloger, Boston University Libraries.

HOWARD W. DILLON is library intern, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

DONALD G. DEITCH, formerly assistant reference librarian, New Rochelle, (N. Y.) Pub-

JANUARY 1962

lic Library, is assistant music librarian, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

MARY H. DAWSON, formerly a staff member of the University of Texas Library, is now first assistant in the descriptive cataloging department, Duke University Library, Durham, N. C.

KATHLEEN EADS is assistant humanities librarian at Southern Illinois University at Carbondale.

ROBERT ECKERT is a staff member of the acquisitions department, University of California, Los Angeles.

MRS. ESTHER EULER is assistant head of the reference department, University of California, Los Angeles.

LEE WALTON FINKS, III, formerly reference assistant, Atlanta Public Library, is now catalog-reference librarian, Preston Library, Virginia Military Institute.

JOHN CHARLES FINZI, head of the European exchange section, exchange and gift division, Library of Congress, has been appointed director of PL-480 Programs for South Asia.

RUSSELL FISCHER is staff member of the San Jose (Calif.) State College Library.

MRS. KATHRVN S. FORREST, formerly head of the order department, California Institute of Technology, is now head of the Agriculture Library, University of California, Riverside.

MRS. ANNE BALDWIN FRANK is librarian I, bibliographical division of the acquisition department, University of California, Berkeley.

MRS. GRACE FULLER, who retired from the general reference and bibliography division, Library of Congress, in April 1961, is now assistant librarian of the Yuba College Library, Marysville, Calif.

WILMA FURCHART is a staff member of the Nebraska State Teachers College Library, Kearney.

Adorjan Galffy is a staff member of the San Jose (Calif.) State College Library.

LOUISE GALLOWAY, formerly a faculty member of the Florida State University Library School, is now head of the circulation department, University of Louisville (Ky.).

OTTA G. GARA, formerly a staff member of the Honnold Library, Claremont, Calif., is now a member of the acquisitions department, Kansas State College, Pittsburg.

MRS. C. E. GATLIN is circulation librar-

ian of Hardin-Simmons University, Abilene, Tex. She was formerly children's librarian of Abilene Public Library.

MRS. ALICE GERTZOG is a staff member of the business administration and social science division, University of North Carolina Library, Chapel Hill.

HOWARD D. GHOLSTON is literature chemist in the technical information center of the Richmond Laboratory, California Research Corporation.

ROBERT L. GITLER, former executive secretary of the Library Education Division of ALA, and a member of ACRL, was recently cited in a 70th anniversary observance of the Japanese Library Association, and from the Japanese government received the Fourth Order of Merit with the Cordon of the Rising Sun, for his contributions to Japanese librarianship.

KATHERINE F. GLASS, formerly technical librarian of the research and development division, Callaway Mills, is now assistant librarian, LaGrange (Ga.) College.

HERBERT GOLDHOR has been appointed associate director of the Graduate School of Library Science, University of Illinois, Urbana.

PATRICIA A. GLUECK is reference assistant, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

JOHN J. GORDON, formerly a staff member of the Library of Congress, is now exchange librarian, primarily responsible for the acquisition of USSR and other Slavic publications, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge.

JOHN HAWKINS GRIBBIN, formerly librarian of the National Academy of Sciences and the National Research Council, Washington, D. C., is now associate librarian, University of North Carolina Library, Chapel Hill.

CARLOS B. HAGEN, formerly cartographer and map librarian, University of Washington, Seattle, is now map librarian, University of California, Los Angeles.

MRS. IRENE B. HARRELL, formerly assistant librarian, Atlantic Christian College, Wilson, N. C., has been appointed acting head librarian.

MRS. PATRICIA HERMES is acquisition-circulation librarian, Bemidji (Minn.) State College.

LEROY HOLMAN, formerly a staff member of the Brooklyn (N. Y.) Public Library, is now periodicals librarian, Glassboro (N. J.) State College.

ROGER G. HORN is a reference assistant, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

MRS. VERONICA HSU, formerly assistant librarian, *American Journal of Nursing*, New York, is now a catalog librarian, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge.

MRS. ANITA HUTSON, formerly a staff member of the Oakland (Calif.) Public Library, is now circulation librarian, Occidental College, Los Angeles.

MRS. DORIS YOUNG HYATT is a staff member of the reference and bibliography department, University of Florida Libraries, Gainesville.

SARA JACOBY, formerly cataloger, Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn, (N. Y.) is now assistant in the science division, Brooklyn College.

BLANCHE JANTZEN is a staff member of the San Francisco (Calif.) State College Library.

DONALD F. JAY, librarian of the U. S. Coast Guard Academy, has been appointed director of the Library of Congress PL-480 projects in the Middle East.

MARY ANN JEFFRIES, formerly technical librarian, Naval Ordnance Test Station Library, China Lake, Calif., is now librarian, Physical Sciences Branch Library, University of California, Riverside.

GEORGE T. JOHNSON, formerly head librarian, Morris Brown College, Atlanta, Ga., is now head librarian, Stanley A. Kresge Library, Bishop College, Dallas, Tex.

RICHARD H. KAIGE, formerly first assistant reference librarian, Illinois State Library, Springfield, is now associate librarian, Education Library, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

JAMES R. KANTOR, formerly librarian of the English graduate library, Ohio State University, Columbus, is now librarian I, public services division, University of California, Berkeley.

MINERVA KATZ, formerly assistant librarian, National Health Library, is now serials librarian, acquisitions division, Brooklyn (N. Y.) College Library.

DIANE KEENAN is earth science librarian, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge.

JOSEPH KELLEHER, formerly in the group claim department, Hartford Accident and Indemnity, is now assistant in the social

JANUARY 1962

science division, Brooklyn (N. Y.) College Library.

DAVID A. KING, formerly on the reference department staff of the Sheffield (England) Public Library is now reference librarian of the Stockton (Calif.) College Library.

DOUGLAS KIRBY is a staff member of the San Francisco (Calif.) State College Library.

ELIZABETH KIRSCH, formerly of the International Overseas School, Rome, Italy, is now acquisitions librarian, Saint Francis College, Loretto, Pa.

BARBARA KORNSTEIN is a staff member of the College Library, University of California, Los Angeles.

THOMAS KUO is Chinese cataloger, University of Pittsburgh Library.

JOHN C. LARSEN, formerly reference specialist, Michigan State Library, Lansing, is now associate librarian, Towson (Md.) State Teachers College.

ROBERT LOCKARD, formerly a staff member of the San Jose (Calif.) State College Library, is now a social science librarian, University of Oregon, 'Eugene.

ARDIS LODGE, formerly assistant head of the reference department, University of California, Los Angeles, is now head of the reference department.

MARY LOU LUCY, formerly chief of the circulation department, University of North Carolina Library, Chapel Hill, is now head of the circulation department, Columbia University Library, New York.

JOHN T. MA, formerly associate librarian of the Missionary Research Library, New York, is now Chinese bibliographer-cataloger in the Watson Collection, Cornell University Library, Ithaca, N. Y.

MARY BELLE McDonald is assistant technical services librarian, University of Alaska in College.

RAY MCINNES is bibliographer on the staff of the University of Washington Library, Seattle.

MRS. CORRINNE MCNEIR, formerly head of the humanities division, Louisiana State University Library, Baton Rouge, is now documents librarian, University of Oregon, Eugene.

ALBERT MASON is assistant catalog librarian, Olin Library, Cornell University, Ithaca, N. Y.

CLAUD MANN, formerly of the Engineering Societies Library, is now head of the catalog department, Pratt Institute, Brooklyn, N. Y.

FRED N. MASTERS, JR., is a reference assistant, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

JOHN S. MAYFIELD is curator of manuscripts, Syracuse (N. Y.) University Library.

MRS. ROSA QUINTERO MESA is a staff member of the University of Florida Libraries, Gainesville.

MRS. MARY CLAIRE MEYER, formerly librarian, Minneapolis (Minn.) Public Library, is now a social science librarian, University of Oregon, Eugene.

JULIAN G. MICHEL, formerly associate librarian, Honnold Library, Claremont (Calif.) College, is now assistant librarian, University of California, Berkeley.

LESLIE R. MORRIS is cataloger and acquisitions assistant, Saint Francis College, Loretto, Pa.

RALPH MORSE, formerly circulation librarian, Western Washington College of Education, Bellingham, is now a staff member of San Jose (Calif.) State College Library.

MRS. SANDRA MORTENSON is library assistant, humanities division, architecture library at the University of Oregon Library, Eugene.

MARIE CHARLOTTE MUGNIER, formerly librarian, Kentucky State Health Department, is now librarian I, general reference service, University of California, Berkeley.

MARTHA D. NELSON is reference librarian, Medical Library, Boston, (Mass.) University Libraries.

MRS. ALICE I. NOLTE is a humanities librarian, University of Oregon Library, Eugene.

FLORA OKAZAKI is librarian I in the catalog department of the Biomedical Library, University of California, Los Angeles.

NEIL B. OLSON is now librarian, Public Relations and Communications Library, Boston, (Mass.) University Libraries.

MICHA FALK OPPENHEIM, formerly assistant librarian, Congregation Shearith Israel, New York, is now assistant in the catalog division, Brooklyn (N. Y.) College Library.

MACDALENE O'ROURKE is librarian I, business administration library, University of California, Los Angeles.

MRS. HELEN PARISKY is librarian I in the

catalog department, University of California, Los Angeles.

WILLIAM A. PEASE, formerly a staff member of the acquisitions department, University of North Carolina Library, Chapel Hill, is now librarian of the Undergraduate Library.

LUCY ANNE POUCHER, formerly a staff member of the Southern Oregon College of Education Library, Ashland, is now a staff member of the San Jose (Calif.) State College Library.

JAMES W. PRUETT is librarian of the music department's library at the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill.

EDITH REES, formerly a staff member of the New York Public Library, is now head of the acquisition department, Pratt Institute, Brooklyn, N. Y.

MRS. VIRGINIA REINACKER, formerly a staff member of the Buena Park Library, is now a staff member of the reference department, University of California, Riverside.

R. YVONNE REYNOLDS is assistant in the catalog division, Brooklyn (N. Y.) College Library.

HANS ROSENSTOCK is a staff member of the acquisitions department, University of California, Los Angeles.

BERTHA ROWE is reference assistant, University of Pittsburgh Library.

GORDON A. ROWELL, formerly serials librarian, acquisition division, Brooklyn (N. Y.) College Library, is now acting chief of the education division.

A. RAY ROWLAND, formerly librarian, Jacksonville (Fla.) University, is now librarian, Augusta (Ga.) College.

STEPHEN R. SALMON has been appointed administrative assistant in the processing department of the Library of Congress.

CHARLES L. SCHLIECKER, retired officer of the United States Air Force and former deputy director of the Air University Library, Montgomery, Ala., is now a staff member of the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, as advisor in the field of building and fiscal management.

KENT SCHRIEFER is head of the catalog department, Tulane University Library, New Orleans, La.

Rose MARIE SERVICE, formerly reference librarian, Carleton College, Northfield, Minn., is now social science librarian, University of Oregon, Eugene.

RACHEL SHALEV is assistant in the office of the associate librarian, Brooklyn (N. Y.) College Library.

CHRISTINE SIMPSON is a staff member of the San Jose (Calif.) State College Library.

LINDA FRANCES SPARKS is a staff member of the Education Library, University of Florida Libraries, Gainesville.

MRS. CAROLINE SPICER, formerly a staff member of the Brooklyn (N. Y.) Public Library, is now assistant reference librarian, Olin Library, Cornell University, Ithaca, N. Y.

ELIZABETH STENGLIN is librarian of the reserve book room at the General Library, University of California, Berkeley.

CONSTANCE STRICKLAND is a staff member in the acquisitions department, College Library, University of California, Los Angeles.

AUDREY M. STURGEON is a staff member of the technical services division of Deering Library, Northwestern University, Evanston, Ill.

BUCK TAGGART, formerly a staff member of the Kansas State University Library, Manhattan, is now assistant librarian, Nebraska State College, Wayne.

ROBERT NAI-HSING TING, is a staff member of the Engineering and Mathematical Sciences Library, University of California, Los Angeles.

MRS. FAITH TOWLE is assistant reference librarian, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge.

ALPHONSE F. TREZZA, a member of ACRL, associate executive director of the ALA, and executive secretary of the Library Administration Division, received a citation as one of the outstanding alumni of Drexel Institute of Technology at the Institute's 70th anniversary observance on December 3. The citation was given for personal, civic, and professional achievements.

MRS. MARIE WATERS is librarian I in the reference department, University of California, Los Angeles.

RUTH WEISBERG is general assistant, University of Pittsburgh Library.

ERNEST E. WEYHRAUCH, formerly assistant in the education division, Brooklyn (N. Y.) College Library, is now acting chief of the circulation department.

PAMELA WILLIAMS, formerly documents librarian in the social science division, Brooklyn (New York) College Library, is now acting chief of the division.

JUDITH A. WILLISTON, formerly intern at National Library of Medicine, Washington, D. C., is now reference librarian, Health Center Library, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

DONALD G. WILSON, formerly a staff member of the Alameda County State College Library, is now a staff member of the University of Hawaii Library, Hilo Campus.

ALAN WOLSTENCROFT is a reference librarian, University of Oregon, Eugene.

VIRGINIA E. YAGELLO, formerly field librarian, Special Services Libraries, Department of the Army, is now assistant supervisor of department libraries, Ohio State University Libraries, Columbus.

MRS. DORA ZIA is librarian of the chemistry department, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill.

### Retirements

VERNA BAYLES, supervisor, acquisitions department, Princeton (N. J.) University Library, retired July 1, 1961, after forty years of service.

THELMA BRACKETT, librarian of the University of New Hampshire Library, Durham, retired December 31, 1961, after twenty years' service.

ERNEST W. CHAPIN, chief librarian of the

JANUARY 1962

Scientific Library, U. S. Patent Office, Washington, D. C., retired March 31, 1961, after thirty-one years of service.

G. VINTON DUFFIELD, chief of building and technical services, Princeton (N. J.) University Library, retired on July 1, 1961, after fifty-six years with the library.

CLYDE S. EDWARDS, head of the operations section, air research division, Library of

Congress, retired October 2, 1961, after more than thirty-seven years of service.

JANE HALL, assistant chief of the descriptive cataloging division, Library of Congress, retired October 24, 1961, after thirty-eight years of service.

RUSSELL LEGEAR, descriptive cataloging division, Library of Congress, retired on October 19, 1961, after thirty-four years of service.

MRS. JEANNE H. LLOYD, head of the Agri-

culture Library, University of California, Riverside, has retired.

KATHERINE PEARCE, special cataloger, Princeton (N. J.) University Library, retired July 1, 1961, after thirty-one years of service.

HENRY LYTTLETON SAVAGE, archivist of the Princeton (N. J.) University Library for the past seventeen years, and a faculty member in the department of English since 1923, retired July 1, 1961.

### Necrology

HELEN R. BLANK, chairman of the department of library science at St. John's University, Jamaica, Long Island, N. Y., died on October 28, 1961, in Glen Cove, N. Y.

MAUDE COLEMAN, reference services librarian, San Jose (Calif.) State College Library, died June 1, 1961.

RUSSELL S. DOZER, librarian of DePauw University, Greencastle, Ind., died October 6, 1961. Prior to his appointment as head of the Roy O. West Library in 1957, Mr. Dozer was circulation librarian at Ohio State University for six years. From 1939 to 1942, and again from 1946 to 1950, he was a staff member of the Library of Congress, holding posts in the main reading room, the congressional reading room, and serving as acting executive officer of the legislative reference service. During World War II he was a lieutenant with the U.S. Navy. He is survived by his wife, Mrs. Maribel Louise Dozer, and two daughters, Anne and Ellen, all of Greencastle; his father, P. W. Dozer, and a

brother, Donald M. Dozer, both of Santa Barbara, Calif.

MABEL R. GILLIS, librarian of the California State Library from 1930 until her retirement in 1951, died in Sacramento September 6, 1961.

HELEN E. HAINES died August 26, 1961, in Altadena, Calif., at the age of eighty. Miss Haines was loved and respected by those who knew her personally, and by the countless thousands with whom she shared her marvelous spirit and wisdom through her two classics, *Living With Books* and *What's in a Novel*.

EMMA BEATRICE HAWKS, who retired as associate librarian, U. S. Department of Agriculture, in 1940, died September 30, 1961, after a short illness.

MRS. WINIFRED CONGDON MAC FEE, who served Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, as director of the Education Service Library from 1942 until her retirement last June, died October 31, 1961, at Berrien Springs, Mich.

### Foreign Libraries

HELMUT RÖTZSCH became director of the Deutsche Bücherei, Leipzig, East Germany, July 1, 1961. WALTER BAUHUIS, librarian of the Westphalian State University of Münster, Germany, died in 1961.

# Grants Awarded by ACRL Committee

G RANTS TO Seventy-eight college and university libraries were made by the ACRL Grants Committee at its seventh annual meeting which was held at Cornell University during November 1961. In addition to these awards the committee made three grants for research by individual scholars.

Applications in the 1961 program were received from 348 college libraries. Awards could be made to less than onequarter of the applicants. Single grants average just over \$481. Twenty-seven grants were made for books to support special projects including honors program, foreign literature studies, settlement in United States by Danish immigrants, and Civil War collections; eleven for books supporting area studies; seven for science books; six for LC catalogs and National Union catalogs; four for reference books; eight for periodical back files; eight for newspapers on microfilm; two for periodicals on microfilm; and five grants for equipment.

The Grants Program this year was made possible by the following companies and corporation foundations: Mc-Graw-Hill Publishing Company; Microcard Foundation; Micro Photo, Inc.; National Biscuit Company; Olin Mathieson Chemical Corporation; Pitney-Bowes, Inc.; Reader's Digest; Time, Inc.; and United States Steel Foundation, Inc.

In 1955 the ACRL Grants Program was initiated with a grant from the U. S. Steel Foundation of \$30,000. The program directs its attention to the general needs of all colleges and universities for developing their library collections, improving the quality of library service to higher education through fundamental research in librarianship, and otherwise aiding in the best use of the most modern teaching and learning materials. For the past seven years these efforts have been directed chiefly to the libraries of private liberal arts colleges and universities. Over \$285,000 has been distributed.

Members of the Grants Committee for 1961/62 are: Richard W. Morin (chairman), librarian, Dartmouth College, Hanover, N. H.; Richard Harwell, librarian, Bowdoin College, Brunswick, Me.; Edward C. Heintz, librarian, Kenyon College, Gambier, Ohio; David Kaser, director, Joint University Libraries, Nashville, Tenn.; Flora B. Ludington, librarian, Mount Holyoke College, South Hadley, Mass.; Giles F. Shepherd, Ir., assistant director of libraries, Cornell University, Ithaca, N. Y.; Humphrey Bousfield (consultant), librarian, G. Brooklyn College, Brooklyn, N. Y.; Ralph E. Ellsworth (ex officio), director of libraries, University of Colorado, Boulder; and Mark M. Gormley (ex officio), 50 E. Huron St., Chicago.

### 1961/62 ACRL GRANTS

- Adrian College, Adrian, Mich. (Mrs. Dorothy M. Shipman) \$400.
- ANTIOCH COLLEGE, Yellow Springs, Ohio (Paul H. Bixler) \$500.
- Augsburg College and Theological Semi-NARY, Minneapolis, Minn. (Karlis Ozolins) \$500.
- AUGUSTANA COLLEGE, SIOUX Falls, S. D. (Kordillia C. Johnson) \$750.
- BARD COLLEGE, Annandale-on-Hudson, N. Y. (Marion E. Vosburgh) \$500.
- BEAVER COLLEGE, Jenkintown, Pa. (Elizabeth L. Hammond) \$200.
- BELHAVEN COLLEGE, Jackson, Miss. (Eunice A. Eley) \$500.
- BETHEL COLLEGE, North Newton, Kan. (Leona Krehbiel) \$300.
- BLUE MOUNTAIN COLLEGE, Blue Mountain, Miss. (Mrs. Florence F. Taylor) \$500.

### JANUARY 1962

73

- CANISIUS COLLEGE, Buffalo, N. Y. (Peter J. Laux) \$500.
- CARLETON COLLEGE, Northfield, Minn. (James H. Richards, Jr.) \$500.
- CENTRAL COLLEGE, Pella, Iowa (Alice Lammers) \$400.
- COLBY COLLEGE, Waterville, Maine (J. R. McKenna) \$875.
- College of the Ozarks, Clarksville, Ark. (Mrs. Lucille L. Murphy) \$500.
- College of St. Catherine, St. Paul, Minn. (Sister Marie Inez) \$300.
- College of St. Scholastica, Duluth, Minn. (Sister M. Antonine Braun) \$300.
- College of St. Thomas, St. Paul, Minn. (Clyde E. Eddy) \$500.
- COLORADO COLLEGE, Colorado Springs, Colo. (Ellsworth Mason) \$700.
- CONCORDIA COLLEGE, Moorhead, Minn. (Anna J. Jordahl) \$500.
- CONCORDIA SENIOR COLLEGE, Fort Wayne, Ind. (Lando C. Otto) \$600.
- CONNECTICUT COLLEGE, New London, Conn. (Hazel A. Johnson) \$500.
- DANA COLLEGE, Blair, Nebr. (Aagot D. Hoidahl) \$1,000.
- DOANE COLLEGE, Crete, Nebr. (Kathryn L. Buck) \$300.
- EASTERN NAZARINE COLLEGE, Wollaston, Mass. (Dorothy A. King) \$500.
- ELIZABETH COLLEGE, Elizabethtown, Pa. (Anna M. Carper) \$300.
- Emmanuel Missionary College, Berrien Springs, Mich. (Mrs. Marilyn Fivash) \$300.
- FLORIDA PRESBYTERIAN COLLEGE, St. Petersburg, Fla. (W. F. Harrison) \$750.
- FURMAN UNIVERSITY, Greenville, S. C. (Robert C. Tucker) \$700.
- GETTYSBURG COLLEGE, Gettysburg, Pa. (Mrs. Lillian H. Smoke) \$500.
- GRINNELL COLLEGE, Grinnell, Iowa (Henry Alden) \$750.
- HAMLINE UNIVERSITY, ST. PAUL, Minn. (Benjamin M. Lewis) \$700.
- HANOVER COLLEGE, Hanover, Ind. (Mary Louise Fitton) \$800.
- HAVERFORD COLLEGE, HAVErford, Pa. (Craig R. Thompson) \$500.
- HOOD COLLEGE, Frederick, Md. (Katharine E. Dutrow) \$400.

- HOUGHTON COLLEGE, Houghton, N. Y. (Esther Jane Carrier) \$300.
- HOWARD COLLEGE, Birmingham, Ala. (F. Wilbur Helmbold) \$500.
- KING COLLEGE, Bristol, Tenn. (Elizabeth England) \$275.

- LADYCLIFF COLLEGE, Highland Falls, N. Y. (Sister Maria Goretti) \$300.
- LEBANON VALLEY COLLEGE, Annville, Pa. (Donald E. Fields) \$500.
- LOUISIANA COLLEGE, Pineville, La. (David B. Howell) \$900.
- LUTHER COLLEGE, Decorah, Iowa (Oivind M. Hovde) \$400.
- LYCOMING COLLEGE, Williamsport, Pa. (M. Ruth Grierson) \$800.
- MACALESTER COLLEGE, St. Paul, Minn. (James F. Holly) \$1,000.
- MANHATTANVILLE COLLEGE OF THE SACRED HEART, Purchase, N. Y. (Mother E. O'Connor) \$500.
- MARIAN COLLEGE, Indianapolis, Ind. (Sister Clarence Marie) \$500.
- MARION COLLEGE, Marion, Ind. (Virginia L. Waymire) \$300.
- MARY BALDWIN COLLEGE, Staunton, Va. (Gertrude C. Davis) \$300.
- MARYMOUNT COLLEGE, Salina, Kan. (Sister Agnes Virginia Engelbert) \$300.
- MARYVILLE COLLEGE, Maryville, Tenn. (Virginia Turrentine) \$1,000.
- MILLSAPS COLLEGE, Jackson, Miss. (Bethany C. Swearingen) \$300.
- MOUNT MARY COLLEGE, Milwaukee, Wis. (Sister M. Angela Merici) \$300.
- MOUNT ST. MARY'S COLLEGE, Los Angeles, Calif. (Sister Catherine Anita) \$300.
- MOUNT UNION COLLEGE, Alliance, Ohio (Yost Osborne) \$500.
- NAZARETH COLLEGE OF KENTUCKY, LOUIS-
- ville, Ky. (Sister James Ellen Huff) \$500. NOTRE DAME COLLEGE, St. Louis, Mo. (Sister Mary Celia) \$400.
- OBERLIN COLLEGE, Oberlin, Ohio (Eileen Thornton) \$1,000.
- OHIO NORTHERN UNIVERSITY, Ada, Ohio (Frederick I. Kuhns) \$300.

KNOX COLLEGE, Galesburg, Ill. (Warren Morris) \$400.

- OKLAHOMA BAPTIST UNIVERSITY, Shawnee, Okla. (Lee B. Spencer) \$500.
- OLIVET COLLEGE, Olivet, Mich. (George Hanson) \$500.
- OUR LADY OF THE LAKE COLLEGE, San Antonio, Tex. (Sister Margaret Rose) \$300.
- PACE COLLEGE, New York, N. Y. (Henry Birnbaum) \$700.
- PACIFIC LUTHERAN UNIVERSITY, Tacoma, Wash. (Frank H. Haley) \$500.
- PENNSYLVANIA MILITARY COLLEGE, Chester, Pa. (Lee C. Brown) \$600.
- RANDOLPH-MACON WOMAN'S COLLEGE, Lynchburg, Va. (Margaret F. Thomas) \$500.
- RENSSELAER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE, Troy, N. Y. (Edward A. Chapman) \$400.
- ST. JOHN'S COLLEGE, Annapolis, Md. (Charlotte Fletcher) \$250.
- ST. MARY'S DOMINICAN COLLEGE, New Orleans, La. (Sister Mary Reginald) \$300.
- ST. OLAF COLLEGE, Northfield, Minn. (Forrest E. Brown) \$300.
- ST. PETER'S COLLEGE, Jersey City, N. J. (Rev. Edmond F. X. Ivers) \$500.
- SALEM ACADEMY AND COLLEGE, Winston-Salem, N. C. (Anna J. Cooper) \$300.
- STERLING COLLEGE, Sterling, Kan. (Lucile Lukens) \$750.
- SWARTHMORE COLLEGE, Swarthmore, Pa. (Charles B. Shaw) \$500.

TOUGALOO SOUTHERN CHRISTIAN COLLEGE,

Tougaloo, Miss. (L. Zenobia Coleman) \$300.

- UNIVERSITY OF THE PACIFIC, Stockton, Calif. (Arthur W. Swann) \$500.
- WASHINGTON COLLEGE, Chestertown, Md. (Robert G. Bailey) \$500.
- Wells College, Aurora, N. Y. (Helen L. Sears) \$500.
- WESTERN MARYLAND COLLEGE, Westminster, Md. (Elizabeth Simkins) \$400.

Research grants for bibliographic projects went to three individuals:

Robert C. Jones, librarian, American River Junior College, Sacramento, Calif. \$250. For compiling a listing of selected titles of books for 1961 most suitable for lower-division college library collections.

Glenn B. Skillin, reference and circulation librarian, Bennington College, Bennington, Vt., \$700. For developing a biobibliographical study of James Lyon (1775-1824), a pioneer printer, papermaker, bookseller, editor, and publisher whose activity can be traced in eleven states from Vermont to Louisiana and from Maryland to Tennessee.

Hensley C. Woodbridge, librarian, Murray State College, Murray, Ky., \$250. For completing a bibliography of Jack London, including the transliteration of material in non-Roman alphabets, microfilms, and photostats.

### CNLA to Have Permanent Secretariat

The Council of National Library Associations took action on six major points recently, including the launching of a study for the eventual establishment of a permanent secretariat for CNLA.

Meeting in New York City on November 17, CNLA appointed an ad hoc committee to consider the duties of the secretariat, staffing, location, budget, sources of financial support, and bylaws. The committee is headed by Edward Waters, music library of the Library of Congress. Members are James Mack, president of CNLA, Robert Kingery, preparation division, The New York Public Library, Bill Woods, executive secretary, Special Libraries Association, and Alphonse F. Trezza, associate executive director, American Library Association.

The ad hoc committee resulted from a report of the CNLA program committee last spring. The CNLA in its report said it can assume leadership to assign responsibilities in various areas of the profession and research projects in machine techniques with a view toward evaluation and analysis, in conjunction with current techniques.

JANUARY 1962